RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 11-25-2015 COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II CLERK OF CO

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Case Nos. 2015AP001850 CRNM

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

-vs-

PATRICIA A. ENRIQUEZ,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR RESENTENCING IN RACINE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT THE HONORABLE MICHAEL J. PIONTEK PRESIDNG RACINE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO. 13-CF-1134

> BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT PATRICIA A. ENRIQUEZ

Kathilynne A. Grotelueschen, State Bar No. 1085045 Seymour, Kremer, Koch, Lochowicz & Duquette LLP

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. THE COURT CONDUCTED ITS OWN INVESTIGATION INTO MS. ENRIQUEZ BY LOOKING UP HER NURSING LICENSE STATUS IN VARIOUS STATES AND THEN WITHHELD THE INFORMATION UNTIL AFTER THE ATTORNEYS AND MS. ENRIQUEZ SPOKE AT SENTENCING. DID THIS CONDUCT RISE TO THE LEVEL OF OBJECTIVE BIAS, DENYING MS. ENRIQUEZ HER DUE PROCESS RIGHT TO BE SENTENCED BY AN IMPARTIAL COURT?

Trial court answered: No

II. DID THE COURT'S INDEPENDENT INVESTIGATION AND CONDUCT AT SENTENING DEPRIVE MS. ENRIQUEZ OF HER DUE PROCESS RIGHT TO REBUT THE INFORMATION RELIED UPON AT SENTENCING?

Trial court answered: No.

III. DID THE COURT DEPRIVE MS. ENRIQUEZ OF HER DUE PROCESS RIGHT TO BE SENTENCED BASED UPON ACCURATE AND RELIABLE INFORMATION?

Trial court answered: No.

IV. DID THE COURT ERRONEOUSLY EXERCISE ITS DISCRETION BY IMPOSING UNREASONABLE AND INAPPROPRIATE CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISION AND AN UNDULY HARSH AND EXCESSIVE SENTENCE?

Trial court answered: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The defendant-appellant believes that the briefs will fully present and meet the issues on appeal and will fully develop the theories and legal authority governing the issues, and therefore, oral argument would be of marginal value. The decision in this case should be published as, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(a), this decision will clarify an existing rule of law, applying it to a factual situation significantly different from that in published opinions. This decision will clarify whether a sentencing court's actions in conducting an independent investigation into the defendant amounts to objective bias, depriving the defendant of his or her right to be sentenced by an impartial court. Therefore, the defendant-appellant respectfully requests that the Court order publication.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE/STATEMENT OF FACTS

On August 22, 2013, Patricia Enriquez was charged with two counts of Delivery of Schedule I, II, or III Non-Narcotics, contrary to Wis. Stats. §§ 961.41(1)(b) and 939.50(3)(h), and one count of Manufacture/Deliver Schedule Drugs, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 961.41(1)(i) IV and 939.50(3)(h), in Racine County Case 13-CF-1134. (R1:1) The Criminal Complaint alleged that on April 23, May 10 and May 13, 2013, Ms. Enriquez delivered controlled substances (dextroamphetamine sulfate and alprazolam) to a cooperating citizen who was working with the Racine Police Department. (R1:2) On each date, Ms. Enriquez was alleged to have sold ten pills for thirty dollars (\$30.00). (R1:2)

Ms. Enriquez waived her right to a preliminary hearing on October 17, 2013 and an Information was filed. (R29:1-5; R2) The Information contained the same three charges as the Criminal Complaint. (R2)

Additional charges were subsequently filed in Racine County Case 14-CF-92, and on June 13, 2014, Ms. Enriquez appeared before the Honorable Allan B. Torhorst for a plea hearing. (R35) Pursuant to a plea agreement, Ms. Enriquez, pled guilty to Counts 1 and 2 in case 13-CF-1134, and Count 3, as well as the charges in case 14-CF-92, were dismissed and read in. (R35:3-10) In exchange for Ms. Enriquez's guilty pleas, the State agreed to recommend three years in prison, as eighteen months initial confinement and eight months extended supervision, on Count 1, and five years imprisonment, stayed for three years of consecutive probation on Count 2. (R35:4) The court engaged in the plea colloquy and ultimately found Ms. Enriquez guilty of Counts 1 and 2, dismissed and read in all other charges, and ordered a presentence investigation report. (R35:9-10)

The presentence investigation report was filed on August 4, 2014. (R10) A hearing was held before the Honorable Eugene Gasiorkiewicz, at which the court acknowledged receiving Ms. Enriquez's Request for Substitution of Judge following his rotation into felony

court. (R36:2; R11) The case was then assigned to the Honorable Michael J. Piontek on August 11, 2014 and a sentencing hearing was scheduled. (R12)

The sentencing hearing was held on October 6, 2014. (R37) According to Judge Piontek's statements at the postconviction motion hearing, the court reviewed Ms. Enriquez's case for the first time on October 3, 2014. (R38:10) (A77) At that time he reviewed the various transcripts, court minutes, and the presentence investigation report. (R38:10-11)(A77-78) On October 3, 2014, Judge Piontek also went on the Internet and looked up Ms. Enriquez's nursing records. (R38:11)(A78) He printed nursing records from his search, which included records for the states of Arizona, Wisconsin, Texas, and Illinois. (R13) (A4-21) These documents were not provided to either party until the sentencing hearing on October 6, 2014, after the parties had finished presenting their arguments. (R37:9) (A48)

The court began the sentencing hearing by acknowledging that it had received the presentence investigation report.(R37:2)(A41) After noting a correction from Ms. Enriquez's trial attorney, Lori Kuehn, the court heard arguments from the parties. (R37:2-8)(A41-47) The State followed the plea agreement, recommending the agreed

upon terms of imprisonment and probation for Counts 1 and 2. (R37:3-6) (A42-45) Attorney Kuehn then made her argument, asking that the court adopt the recommendation of the presentence investigation report by withholding sentence and placing Ms. Enriquez on probation for one to two years. (R37:6) (A45) Attorney Kuehn emphasized Ms. Enriquez's substantial education and employment history as a nurse, as well as her lack of a prior criminal record and her medical conditions. (R37:6-8) (A45-447) Specifically, she advised the court that Ms. Enriquez has broken her neck several has times, had cranial traction, diabetes, multiple sclerosis, and high blood pressure. (R37:7)(A46) Ms. Enriquez then addressed the court directly, stating:

I would like to express my remorse. I did do this crime. And I know that -- that this is what brings me before your honor.

I did not do this crime over greater profit. I had no intention. I personally thought that I was helping a friend and neighbor because -- and maybe I was naïve and that was my -- my problem. I know that I used poor judgment. And I no longer will be in nursing. I am retiring. And for this I am very regretful and very remorseful. Thank you for your time, sir.

(R37:8-9) (A47-48)

After hearing the sentencing arguments, the court asked the deputy to pass documents out to the parties. (R37:9)(A48) These documents consisted of the information the court printed out regarding Ms. Enriquez's nursing license in Arizona, Wisconsin, Texas, and Illinois. (R13)(A4-21) The following exchange then occurred between the court and Ms. Enriquez:

THE COURT: Would you like to explain your revocation of your nursing license in the State of Texas in 2000 for 17 counts of taking Morphine?

THE DEFENDANT: These counts, sir, are things that were never substantiated. I returned my license to the State of Texas because I was no longer practicing in the State of Texas.

THE COURT: Yeah.

THE DEFENDANT: These were drugs that I missed -- did not mishandle. What I did was not -- did not document correctly. And I have straightened this out. And, in fact, if you look at the State of Illinois, the State of Illinois will show you that I have straightened it out.

THE COURT: The State of Illinois is attached.

MS. KUEHN: Right.

THE COURT: And the State of Illinois shows that you have no license there.

THE DEFENDANT: What?

THE COURT: You have no license in the State of Illinois, and you never have.

THE DEFENDANT: I do, sir.

THE COURT: You see the license here, State of Illinois?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir. But I know I do have a license. It might not have been -- it might not have been renewed.

THE COURT: Look, your lies are getting you in trouble. Okay?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir, I could prove --

THE COURT: If I were you, I would close your mouth. Okay? Your license in the State of Illinois does not exist. Your license in Arizona, it says there's been disciplinary action taken against you in the past ten years.

THE DEFENDANT: Um-hmm.

THE COURT: In the State of Wisconsin you haven't had a license since March of 1992. And you're telling us all of these great things and you were just helping out a neighbor, you know, with some medication when you have 17 counts of taking Morphine which they pulled your license for in the state of Texas in 2000.

Look, you are probably the biggest liar that ever came in front of me in terms of hiding this kind of stuff and portraying yourself as this law-abiding citizen that's just trying to help out the neighbor and what a big heart you've got.

You have a terrific drug and alcohol issue. And you're a drug dealer. And you've been a drug dealer for a long time. And I don't believe much of what you've said in terms of your own reporting. I didn't make this stuff up.

THE DEFENDANT: I didn't say that you did, sir.

THE COURT: When I saw the issue -- I don't want any comment from you anymore. THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am -- sir.

(R37:9-11)(A48-50) The court then addressed the charges before it and in rendering its sentence, placed great emphasis on the disciplinary action taken against Ms. Enriquez in Texas. (R37:12-18)(A51-57)

While imposing its sentence, the court made the following statements, among others, regarding Ms. Enriquez's nursing license:

We're going back, you know, 14 years. You're in Texas. And, you know, I'm familiar with nursing discipline in my practice. I represented nurses that were rehabilitated. I see them in recovery at times. And there are ways for them to rehabilitate themselves and get work back.

My experience with it is if they have one or two of these counts, it's unusual. Or I mean it's usual. 17 counts with -- it's always Morphine. They're always short. You know, it's not administered to the patient. Don't give me this, oh, it's just one of those administrative things and I surrendered my license. Yes, you did. That's probably the only true thing you said.

But you were using Morphine or selling it or both back then. And I consider that as fact based on evidence from the Texas authorities on your discipline in the State of Texas.

The only thing you report is Dallas County Texas for an assault, a fight with your husband that gets out of hand. And that's why you have no prior record. No where in here do you tell the author of the presentence about this druq revocation of your licenses. You paint this picture like you're this nurse in good standing and the only thing you've ever done is disorderly conduct. Where is in this presentence report your statement about losing your license in the State of Texas and your explanation for why you lost it? It's because you were lying about it. You were hiding it. You were, just like all this other stuff is a bunch of baloney.

You know, your only trouble has been, you know, someone who obeys the law. And, as a nurse, tries to help people. Yeah, you helped them when you have 17 counts of taking, you know, the narcotic drug. You're helping them a lot. Not giving it to the patient is what usually happens. Taking the whole thing. Not administering. I mean they keep track of these records.

Before they go on a case like that against a nurse, they, you know, this isn't just some Mickey Mouse operation where this is some kind of mistake. You know, you're taking Morphine, either not giving it to the patients, administering it to yourself, selling it. I don't know what exactly it is. But I do know that it's true that your license was revoked because you took Morphine that was destined for patients or destined for discarding. And you used it or sold it or a combination of both.

. . .

. . .

I mean there's -- there are multiple offenses under the 17 charges that are contained in your, you know, revocation order from the State of Texas. So you telling me as a trained professional registered nurse that you're simply helping someone out with pills is probably the biggest set of lies that I've heard on the bench.

(R37:13,15-16,18) (A52,A54-55,A57) The court then addressed Ms. Enriquez's character, the need to protect the public, and the nature of the offenses. (R37:18-28) (A57-67) In doing so, it made the following statements:

You stand convicted of two felonies relating to the delivery of narcotics for money, which you say was, you know, just being a good Samaritan.

And your leisurely activities are needlepoint, teaching CPR, reading, and how about selling morphine and selling pills. You know, you portray yourself as a person that's just this law-abiding, nice person. And maybe you've done some nice things in your life. But this stuff is, for a nurse, it's all totally dishonest.

. . .

. . .

So, you know, where it says here that your doctor has concern, your doctor up at Advanced Pain Management had concern because he thought you were selling your meds, you know, that kind of raised some of my concern. I started looking. I figured I'm going to look and see what is there.

So, well, you're going to be having a problem now. Because you're going to be given some time to think about your honesty. And it's the first thing you need to work on is to get honest, not with me necessarily. I'm not offended by it. I just recognize what's there. But you have to get honest with yourself. You weren't honest with your lawyer. You weren't honest with the Court. You weren't honest with the author of the presentence investigation.

And if you're going to lie to friends, that's up to you. If you're going to lie to the Court and present patently false information to me in order for me to fashion a sentence, and I was born but it wasn't yesterday, and I find out about it, there is a -- there is a consequence to that. (R37:19,21,23) (A58,A60,A62)

The court sentenced Ms. Enriquez to sixty-six months, or five and a half years imprisonment, as two and half years initial confinement and three years extended supervision, on both counts, consecutive, for a total of eleven years imprisonment. (R37:25)(A64) As a condition of her supervision the court ordered that Ms. Enriquez not use any narcotic medication, whether or not it was prescribed by a physician. (R37:26)(A65)

On March 20, 2015, Ms. Enriquez, through appellate counsel, filed a Notice of Motion and Motion for Resentencing, along with supporting Brief and Affidavit. Enriquez requested resentencing (R18;R20;R21) Ms. on several grounds, alleging that the court relied upon inaccurate information, she was denied her right to rebut information relied upon at sentencing, that objective bias existed, and that the court erroneously exercised its discretion. (R19;R20) The supporting Affidavit contained documents demonstrating that, contrary to the court's assertions, Ms. Enriquez's nursing license in Texas had not been revoked, the nursing records did not contain any information alleging that Ms. Enriquez had sold drugs, and that Ms. Enriquez had been licensed as a nurse in the State

of Illinois. (R21)(A22-37) No response was filed by the State. A hearing on the motion for resentencing was held on August 24, 2015. (R38)(A68)

The motion hearing began with the court asking Ms. Enriquez if she had anything to add to her written materials. (R38:2)(A69) The court then asked Attorney Sharon Riek, appearing on behalf of the State, whether she had anything she wished to present or argue. (R38:3)(A70) Attorney Riek stated:

No, youR Honor. I -- I believe that there was no inaccurate information at the time that the defendant was sentenced and, therefore, I would ask the Court deny the motion.

(R38:3) (A70) The court then made a record regarding the facts as it saw them by recounting the procedural history of the case and the contents of the presentence investigation report. (R38:3-18) (A70-85) In relation to Ms. Enriquez's request for resentencing based upon denial of her right to an impartial court, the court stressed that it had not presided over the case, or met Ms. Enriquez until the sentencing hearing, and stated:

In this case I reviewed the presentence on October 3^{rd} which is that Friday and which is the same day that I looked at her nursing records.

But on October 3rd of 2014 when I looked at this, especially her statement that she had her license revoked in Wisconsin, my decision at that time was to look at her nursing records for two reasons. One, if she's an addict and is selling

medication and needs treatment and she shows no recognition of those facts, she presents a great danger to our community.

And, No. 2, if she's pursuing her master's degree and she intends on returning to nursing in any capacity, if she's an addict and has access to the medication that nurses have access to, she poses a tremendous problem, not only for her, but for our community.

What about the patients that are supposed to get their medication? What about patients where she's impaired and don't get their medications? She intends on returning to nursing. According to her, this is no big deal. So I look at the nursing records. And they're dated October 3rd, 2014, which is a Friday, as I said, before the sentencing.

So I see this. You know, now, mind you, when I look for her records, I don't know what I'm going to see. I don't know if it's going to be good. I don't know if it's going to say Patricia was a great nurse and every place she worked loved her. I don't know if there's anything there. I'm not on a -- a quest of some kind.

. . .

The issue was raised by her in the presentence when she said my license was revoked. And all I did was access a public record. You can go on the Internet. Although I'm not that good on the Internet, I could find these things. And so I accessed them from various dates (sic).

And, you know, this idea that counsel has somehow that I sandbagged the defendant, and it goes laying in the weeds for her, I, you know, to me that is exactly what she told us all along. So counsel is right in line with what she's said which is it's everyone else's fault. This time it happens to be the judge's fault.

We should return a person like this to the nursing profession and let her work on people in our community without any treatment because she, again, has said I don't have any treatment needs. I don't -- I have never misused, you know, a drug. I've always taken them as prescribed.

So my statements in the presentence stand. You know, I gave her -- the reason I didn't give it to her timing wise until after the presentation by the attorneys, to be honest, is she has a right of elocution (sic).

I wanted to hear her say, you know, Judge -she said I accept responsibility when everything she says in detail says I don't accept responsibility.

So maybe in our job as advocates, we -- we believe the judge screwed up and, you know, somehow caused all of this, and, you know, is a bad person and shouldn't have decided, is biased.

I can tell you absolutely I was not biased. I simply wanted the truth. And that's what I got. And when I got the truth, I expected her to acknowledge it and she didn't.

• • •

. . .

And although the transcript doesn't indicate it after I passed out the documents, I gave time for both counsel to look at it, gave her an opportunity, another right of elocution (sic) for the defendant to explain the revocation of her license because that paints a much different picture than she paints.

And it's unfortunate that, you know, she decided to handle it that way. But I don't, you know, determine that. So, again, I did not see her until the date of sentencing. The Friday before is when I decided to look at the nursing records, before deciding whether she posed really a danger to the community as someone addicted, someone who's willing to sell drugs, accept no responsibility and serious drugs that affect this community tremendously.

(R38:10-11,20,26-27,29-30) (A77-78, A87, A93-94, A96-97) In

relation to Ms. Enriquez's claim that she was sentenced

based upon inaccurate information, the court stated:

I didn't. If, you know, whether she had an Illinois license or didn't have an Illinois license, that wasn't a big deal to me. And we talked about it. But there's a lot of things I talked about that aren't major factors of me deciding. My reason for deciding are the major things I just talked about, the dishonesty, the need for help, the addict part of it, the drug-seeking behavior and the failure to recognize what a risk that poses for someone that's now in a master's program in nursing to pursue as a nurse later on.

(R38:31) (A98)

Without specifically addressing the other grounds raised in Ms. Enriquez's motion, the court denied the motion in most part, however, acknowledged it erred in imposing the costs of the buy money as restitution and ordered that an amended judgment of conviction be entered to that extent. (R38:29) (A96)

The court's Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part was filed on August 31, 2015. (R23)(A38-39) This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"Whether a judge was objectively not impartial is a question of law that [the Court] review[s] independently." *State v. Herrman*, 2015 WI 84, ¶23, 364 Wis. 2d 336, 867 N.W.2d 772. There is a rebuttable presumption that a judge acted fairly, impartially, and without prejudice. *Id*. at ¶24. The party alleging bias has the burden of proving bias by a preponderance of the evidence. *Id*.

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