#### **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

01-27-2016

## COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

**DISTRICT II** 

Case No. 2015AP1850-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

PATRICIA A. ENRIQUEZ,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR RESENTENCING ENTERED IN RACINE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, HONORABLE MICHAEL J. PIONTEK, PRESIDING

#### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

ANNE C. MURPHY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1031600

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### As the court of appeals noted in *Goodson*:

The right to an impartial judge is fundamental to our notion of due process. We presume a judge has acted fairly, impartially, and without bias; however, this presumption is rebuttable. When evaluating whether a defendant has rebutted the presumption in favor of the court's impartiality, we generally apply two tests, one subjective and one objective.

Goodson, 320 Wis. 2d 166, ¶ 8 (citations omitted). In this case, Enriquez alleges that Judge Piontek was objectively biased (Enriquez's brief at 17).

Objective bias can exist in two situations. Traditionally, courts have considered whether "there are objective facts demonstrating . . . the trial judge in fact treated [the defendant] unfairly." *Hermann*, 364 Wis. 2d 336, ¶ 27 (citing *Goodson*, 320 Wis. 2d 166, ¶ 9; *McBride*, 187 Wis. 2d at 416). More recently,

courts have "recognized that the right to an impartial decisionmaker stretches beyond the absence of actual bias to encompass the appearance of bias as well." *Hermann*, 364 Wis. 2d 336, ¶ 30. "When the appearance of bias reveals a great risk of actual bias, the presumption of impartiality is rebutted, and a due process violation occurs" *Id.* ¶ 46 (citations omitted).

In *Hermann*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that where the judge made personal statements about her sister being killed by a drunk driver while sentencing the defendant for homicide by intoxicated use of a vehicle, the statements were made "to illustrate the seriousness of the crime and the need to deter drunk driving in our society" and were not "an expression of bias against Hermann." *Id.* at ¶ 60. Therefore, the defendant had failed to rebut the presumption that the judge was impartial because the court's statements, viewed in context, did not reveal a great risk of actual bias. *Id.* at ¶ 68.

In this case, Enriquez alleges that by demonstrating that the sentencing court obtained Enriquez's nursing records from another state prior to sentencing, and then produced them at the sentencing hearing and questioned Enriquez about them, she has rebutted the presumption of Judge Piontek's impartiality because "[t]he circuit court's actions in conducting an independent investigation into Ms. Enriquez gives the appearance of bias which reveals a great risk of actual bias" (Enriquez's brief at 16). Enriquez's claim of judicial bias fails for two reasons: first, she forfeited this claim by failing to object at the sentencing hearing; and second, even if her attorney had objected, Enriquez has not rebutted the presumption that Judge Piontek impartially sentenced her.

## B. Enriquez forfeited her judicial bias claim by not objecting at the sentencing hearing.

Enriquez did not object to the circuit court's comment or seek recusal of Judge Piontek at the sentencing hearing; consequently, she forfeited her judicial bias claim. *See, e.g., State v. Marhal,* 172 Wis. 2d 491, 505, 493 N.W.2d 758 (Ct. App. 1992) ("A challenge to a judge's right to adjudicate a matter must be made as soon as the alleged infirmity is known and prior to the judge's decision on a contested matter").

By failing to make a contemporaneous objection to Judge Piontek's impartiality at the sentence hearing after he produced Enriquez's nursing records, provided them to the State and to Enriquez and then questioned Enriquez about them, Enriquez deprived the circuit court of the opportunity to address her concerns regarding the court's questions to her about her nursing records. *See, e.g., State v. Davis,* 199 Wis. 2d 513, 517-19, 545 N.W.2d 244 (Ct. App. 1996) (Policies behind the contemporaneous objection rule include reducing trial-error, promoting finality in litigation, and the development of an accurate factual record). Therefore, Enriquez has forfeited her judicial bias claim and it cannot be the basis for this court to order resentencing.

# C. Enriquez has failed to show that Judge Piontek was objectively biased by a preponderance of the evidence.

If Enriquez's judicial bias claim has not been forfeited, it fails on the merits because she has not rebutted the presumption that Judge Piontek was impartial by a preponderance of the evidence. Enriquez has not shown an appearance of bias that reveals a great risk of actual bias, because there is no evidence whatsoever that the circuit court prejudged its sentencing decision. *See Gudgeon*, 295 Wis. 2d 189, ¶¶ 2-5, 25-26 (judicial bias occurs when sentence prejudged or predetermined).

Further, as the supreme court recognized in *Hermann*, in making its sentencing decision, the circuit court is "required to specify the objectives of the sentence on the record. These

objectives include, but are not limited to, the protection of the community, punishment of the defendant, rehabilitation of the defendant and deterrence to others." State v. Gallion, 2004 WI 42, ¶ 40, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197; accord Wis. Stat. § 973.017(2).¹ Enriquez has not shown that, when viewed in context of the circuit court's proper consideration of these sentencing factors, the circuit court's action of obtaining Enriquez's nursing records and questioning Enriquez about them at the sentencing hearing proves that there was a great risk that the circuit court was actually biased. See Hermann, 364 Wis. 2d 336, ¶ 66 (circuit court's statements about personal experience with sister's death by a drunk driver were properly made in the context of consideration of sentencing factors and did not reveal a great risk of actual bias sufficient to rebut presumption of impartiality).

On appeal, Enriquez contends that the circuit court impermissibly conducted its own investigation by obtaining online public records related to Enriquez nursing license in Texas and Illinois, and that this action is sufficient to create an appearance of bias that reveals a great risk of actual bias (Enriquez's brief at 24). Enriquez is wrong. As the court explained, when it decided to look up Enriquez's nursing records, it did not know what it would find, whether the information would be positive or negative or whether there

When a court makes a sentencing decision concerning a person convicted of a criminal offense committed on or after February 1, 2003, the court shall consider all of the following:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Wis. Stat. § 973.017(2) provides:

<sup>(</sup>ad) The protection of the public.

<sup>(</sup>ag) The gravity of the offense.

<sup>(</sup>ak) The rehabilitative needs of the defendant.

<sup>(</sup>b) Any applicable mitigating factors and any applicable aggravating factors[.]

was anything there: the court was not on a "quest of some kind" to find negative information about Enriquez, especially given that Judge Piontek had no experience with Enriquez and had not presided over her case prior to the sentencing hearing (38:26-27, A-Ap. 93-94). Enriquez's allegations that the sentencing court was "gather[ing] information to use against her at sentencing" and "was acting as an adversary to Ms. Enriquez, rather than as a neutral decision-maker" are simply untrue and are not supported by her allegations (Enriquez's brief at 19). There is no evidence that the court had prejudged its sentencing decision when it obtained the nursing records and a reasonable person would not think that the court's decision to get more background information about Enriquez's professional status negated the presumption of the court's impartiality.

By looking up Enriquez's nursing records, the court sought out already-existing information that was obviously known by Enriquez and that the court believed was necessary for it to make an appropriate sentencing decision. As the court explained at the postconviction hearing, the court was concerned about Enriquez's statement in the PSI that her Wisconsin license had been revoked because of the danger to the community posed by someone in the nursing profession having issues with drug abuse and addiction (38:20, A-Ap. 87). Because "[t]he issue was raised by her in the presentence when she said my license was revoked," the court decided to access the public records regarding Enriquez's nursing licensure on the internet and found the information about the circumstances surrounding the surrender of her license in Texas (38:26, A-Ap. 93). The court explained that the reason it did not produce the nursing records to either party until after the attorneys' sentencing arguments was that the court wanted Enriquez to accept responsibility and recognize that she had an addiction problem (38:27-28, A-Ap. 94-95).

Enriquez's argument that the circuit court violated SCR 60.04(1)(g), which states that a judge "may not initiate, permit, engage in or consider ex parte communication concerning a pending or impending action or proceeding" fails because the circuit court did not engage in ex parte communication with the State or create new evidence to use in the case. Rather, the circuit court sought out information from a third-party source that was already in existence, was readily available on the internet and, most importantly, was obviously well known to Enriquez herself and that the court felt was necessary to appropriately sentence Enriquez.

This case is fundamentally different from *State v. Vanmanivong*, 2003 WI 41, 261 Wis. 2d 202, 661 N.W.2d 76, in which the circuit court contacted law enforcement without informing either party and caused two unsworn memoranda to be used in determining whether the identities of unknown informants should be disclosed. *Id.* ¶¶ 8-12, 33-34. Under these specific circumstances, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that the:

[c]ircuit court erred by independently requesting additional information from law enforcement, a request that led to receipt of the unsworn memo from Detective Bloedorn. The circuit court relied upon that independently gathered information to make a ruling on disclosure.... Judges are generally prohibited from independently gathering evidence by the rules of judicial ethics. Supreme Court Rule 60.04(1)(g) prohibits a judge from engaging in ex parte communications concerning a pending action . . . .

*Vanmanivong*, 261 Wis. 2d 202, ¶ 34. Here, however, the circuit court did not create or gather new evidence from law enforcement; it obtained information from public records that already existed, was readily available and was known to Enriquez.

Further, Enriquez wrongly asserts that the circuit court's actions are contrary to the Code of Judicial Conduct and thus

give the appearance of bias (Enriquez's brief at 20). Because the circuit court was not investigating "facts in a case" as prohibited by the Rules of Judicial Conduct, but was merely background information Enriquez obtaining about determine her character, the danger she posed to the public and the gravity of the offenses for which she was being sentenced, the court did not violate the judicial conduct code. The circuit court obtained information that it is allowed to obtain under SCR 60.04(1)(g)(3) and as warranted to help it make an appropriate sentencing decision. Therefore, Enriquez wholly fails to overcome the presumption of non-bias because "the party asserting judicial bias must show that the judge is biased or prejudiced by a preponderance of the evidence." McBride, 187 Wis. 2d at 415.

Enriquez has not met her burden to show that by obtaining these public records, questioning Enriquez about them at sentencing, and hoping that Enriquez would take some responsibility for her previous conduct, there arose an appearance of bias that gave rise to a great risk of actual bias. As such, Enriquez has failed to rebut the presumption that the circuit court acted impartially when it sentenced her for two counts of delivery of drugs.

## II. ENRIQUEZ WAS NOT DEPRIVED OF HER RIGHT TO REBUT INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATUS OF HER NURSING LICENSES IN OTHER STATES.

On appeal, Enriquez asserts that she was deprived of her due process right to rebut the information about her previous nursing license status, citing *State v. Lynch*, 2006 WI App 231, ¶ 24, 297 Wis. 2d 51, 724 N.W.2d 656 (Enriquez's brief at 25). *Lynch* does not support Enriquez's argument, however. In *Lynch*, this court held that because the defendant was aware of the information contained in a television interview that Lynch himself had given, he was not deprived of his due process rights by the court not giving him prior notice that it would

consider the television interview at his sentencing. *Lynch*, 297 Wis. 2d 51, ¶ 25 ("In this case, the contents of the interview were not kept secret from Lynch. Since Lynch gave the interview, he knew its contents and when it occurred"). Similarly, Enriquez's nursing records were not secret from her: they were her own records so she obviously knew about them and they were readily available to her and to her counsel.

In this case, the court provided the nursing records to both parties at the same time at the sentencing hearing, after both counsel had made their presentations and Enriquez had addressed the court, and gave them time to review the records before questioning Enriquez about them (37:9, A-Ap. 48; 38:30, A-Ap. 97). The court wanted to give Enriquez an opportunity at sentencing "to explain the revocation of her license because that paints a much different picture than she paints" (38:30, A-Ap. 97). Additionally, Enriquez did not object contemporaneously at the sentencing hearing to the court's questions about her nursing records, and the record reflects that she did respond to the court's questions (37:9-11, A-Ap. 48-50). Based on Enriquez's responses to the court's questions about her nursing license records, the court determined that she was not taking responsibility, not admitting that she had been involved with drugs in the past, and was refusing to "accept responsibility" and "recognize [she had] something to change" (38:13, A-Ap. 52).

The record demonstrates that Enriquez had the opportunity to respond to the court's questions about her nursing records, which were known to her and which therefore did not contain new "secret" information. Therefore, this court should affirm the circuit court's order denying resentencing.

# III. ENRIQUEZ IS NOT ENTITLED TO SENTENCE MODIFICATION BASED ON HER ALLEGATIONS THAT THE COURT RELIED ON INACCURATE INFORMATION DURING SENTENCING.

#### A. Relevant law and standard of review.

A defendant has a constitutionally protected due process right to be sentenced upon accurate information. State v. Tiepelman, 2006 WI 66, ¶ 9, 291 Wis. 2d 179, 717 N.W.2d 1. In Tiepelman, the Wisconsin Supreme Court clarified the law in this area, and held that a defendant who requests resentencing due to the circuit court's use of inaccurate information must show both that the information was inaccurate, and that the court actually relied on the inaccurate information in the sentencing. *Id.* ¶¶ 2, 26. The defendant's burden of proof, on both prongs, is by clear and convincing evidence. State v. Harris, 2010 WI 79, ¶ 34, 326 Wis. 2d 685, 786 N.W.2d 409; State v. Payette, 2008 WI App 106, ¶ 46, 313 Wis. 2d 39, 756 N.W.2d 423. Once actual reliance on inaccurate information is shown, the burden then shifts to the State to prove that the error was harmless. Tiepelman, 291 Wis. 2d 179, ¶¶ 3, 26, 31. An error is harmless if there is no reasonable probability that it contributed to the outcome. *Payette*, 313 Wis. 2d 39, ¶ 46.

A defendant waives or forfeits an inaccurate information claim by failing to object to the information presented at sentencing. *See State v. Leitner*, 2001 WI App 172, ¶ 41, 247 Wis. 2d 195, 633 N.W.2d 207, *aff'd*, 2002 WI 77, 253 Wis. 2d 449, 646 N.W.2d 341 (counsel's failure to object to prosecutor's argument about behavior underlying expunged convictions constituted waiver of inaccurate information claim). Once a defendant is given the opportunity to review and contest the information, such as information contained in the PSI that he believes is improper, it is within the trial court's discretion to rely upon the information and determine the weight, if any, to

be given the information. *State v. Peters*, 192 Wis. 2d 674, 697, 534 N.W.2d 867 (Ct. App. 1995).

# B. Enriquez waived her inaccurate information claim and the court did not rely on inaccurate information when sentencing Enriquez.

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